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DATE:    July 9, 2014 

 

TO:  Architectural Review Committee of the Historic Preservation 

Commission 
 

FROM:   Kelly Wong, Historic Preservation Technical Specialist – (415) 575‐9100    

 

REVIEWED BY:  Tim Frye, Preservation Coordinator, (415) 575‐6822 
 

RE:      Review and Comment July 16, 2014 Hearing 

50 Fell Street  

Case No. 2014.0048H 
 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

The  Planning  Department  (Department)  has  requested  review  and  comment  before  the 

Architectural Review Committee (ARC) regarding the proposed exterior alteration of existing 

Category  I  (Significant) Building, designated under Article 11 of  the San Francisco Planning 

Code. 

 

PROPERTY DESCRIPTION 

The subject building is located at 50 Fell Street in Accessor’s Block 0841, Lot 010 on the north 

side of Fell Street between Van Ness Avenue and Polk Street.  It  is a Category  I  (Significant) 

Building under Article  11  of  the Planning Code  and  located within  the C‐3‐G  (Downtown‐

General) Zoning District, and a 120/200‐R‐2 Height and Bulk District.  

 

Constructed in 1931, the structure at 50 Fell Street, historically known as the Viavi Building is 

comprised of  an L‐shaped,  two‐  and  three‐story  concrete  frame  and brick  cladded building 

with steel multi‐lite windows, wrought iron balconies, and clay tile roof designed in a Spanish 

Colonial Revival style by Architect Willis Polk & Co.   The  two wings wrap around an open 

courtyard on the north and east and a historic brick wall with wrought iron fence and gate line 

the southern edge of the property along Fell Street.  According to a historic sketch, the western 

portion of the property always maintained a service drive and in the 1990’s, an accessible ramp 

was constructed to the west of this drive.  

 

A Minor Permit  to Alter  (Case No. 2014.0407H) was  issued on  June 25, 2014  for  the general 



 

 
 

 
                                                                                                                                                                2 

 
 

repair  and maintenance  of  the  building  exterior  including  cleaning  and  repair  of  existing 

cement plaster walls, steel windows, clay roof tiles, skylights, brick wall and piers, removal of 

non‐historic concrete ramps on the west portion of the property, installation of small accessible 

ramps, installation of new aluminum framed doors and windows to match existing in design, 

and installation of new signage and light fixtures. 

 

 
 

 
                                            
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

The proposed project includes exterior alterations of the existing two building wings and the 

previously altered courtyard. The scope of work includes the following: 

 Removal of non‐historic curvilinear brick ramp and concrete stairs at east wing entrance.  

Historic sketch of subject building circa 1931 

Current photo of subject building in 2014 
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 Creation of  (2) new door  entrances  –  (1)  at  the  east wing  and  (1)  at  the north wing 

including  the removal of existing steel multi‐lite window and  the partial wall below, 

and insertion of new painted aluminum door with glazed openings to match existing 

window design. 

 Installation of a new steel ramp and stair with concrete pan filled surfaces and painted 

steel handrails and guardrails; 

 Replacement  of  historic  wrought  iron  balconies  and  railings  with  new  painted 

aluminum railings to match existing in design and profiles; 

 Repair  of  existing  site  brick  wall  and  wrought  iron  fence  including  anchoring  of 

existing  cast  concrete  capitals  and wrought  iron  fence  to  brick  piers,  repointing  of 

existing brick piers, and refinishing of wrought iron fence and gate; 

 Reconstruction of missing brick piers and iron fence section to match existing in design 

and profiles, and installation of a new painted aluminum sliding gate with door leafs 

at center at western end of property aligned with existing site wall; and  

 Construction of a new playground with both landscape and hardscape including new 

winding accessible exit paths, 5‐feet high mound at center of courtyard with climbing 

wall, boulders and slides, play areas on  lawn and fibar surfaces, a sand area beneath 

existing planted area along site wall fence, new planted areas and trees throughout the 

site. 

 

ARTICLE 11  

In reviewing an application for a Permit to Alter, the Historic Preservation Commission must 

consider whether  the proposed work would be compatible with  the character of  the existing 

property and  is  in compliance with  the Secretary of  the  Interior’s Standards  for  the Treatment of 

Historic Properties, Section 1111.6 of  the Planning Code, as well as  the designating Ordinance 

and  any  applicable  guidelines,  local  interpretations,  bulletins,  related  appendices,  or  other 

policies.  

 

STAFF ANALYSIS 

Specifically,  the  Department  seeks  the  advice  of  the  ARC  regarding  compatibility  of  the 

proposed  new  doors,  new  ramp  and  stair  design,  and  new  playground  design  with  the 

existing  historic  property.    The Department would  like  the ARC  to  consider  the  following 

information: 

   
New Doors and Windows 

The project proposes  to create  two new door entrances, one at  the east wing and one at  the 

north wing in order to accommodate additional exits required for the new use as a Montessori 

school.  Each new door opening requires the removal of one entire steel window assembly and 

a portion of  the  concrete wall below. Although  the proposed new painted aluminum doors 

and surrounding windows have a multi‐lite design similar to the existing window assembly, 

staff finds that door and window details to be bulky in design with large square profiles and 
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utilitarian  hardware.  Staff  understands  the  need  for  new  proposed  doors,  however 

recommends that the new door and window assembly be refined further in their details to be 

more consistent with the character of the historic building and property. 

 

Recommendation: 

1. The Department recommends refining the design of the proposed new door and window 

assembly with details  to be more  referential with  the  character of  existing historic  steel 

windows and property.  

 

New Accessible Ramp and Stair Assembly 

The existing wings have a  simple design of painted concrete and plaster  finished walls and 

regular punched openings, each with multi‐lite steel windows. The installation of a new ramp 

and  stair will  greatly  alter  the  primary  (west)  façade  of  the  east wing  in  its massing  and 

composition. Although  the  Project  Sponsor  believes  that  the  new  ramp  and  stair  design  is 

referential to the existing historic building through the proposal of a light weight painted steel 

framed and  concrete  filled pan assembly with  simple painted  steel handrail and guardrails, 

staff believes the assembly is large in its overall massing and composition and the design to be 

too  utilitarian  without  reference  to  the  refined  details  found  on  the  historic  property.  

Additionally,  the  proposed  ramp  and  stair  assembly  obscures  character‐defining  features 

including  existing  windows  and  the  decorative  primary  entry  at  the  east  wing.  The 

Department understands the necessity of the proposed ramp, however staff recommends that 

the new ramp and stair design be consolidated to minimize its overall massing and portion of 

the assembly be moved further north to prevent obscuring the main entrance to the east wing.  

 

Recommendation: 

2. The  Department  recommends  reducing  the  size  of  the  proposed  new  ramp  and  stair 

assembly  and moving  the  assembly  further  north  to minimize  its massing  and prevent 

obscuring the primary entrance.  

 

Playground Design 

The Project Sponsor proposes to construct a new playground within the existing courtyard at 

this site.   No character‐defining  features  remain  from  the original courtyard design except 

for  the  tiled  fountain  base,  and  the  site wall  and  fence which will  remain  in  its  original 

location and be repaired. Existing trees adjacent to the site wall will also remain.   The non‐

historic curvilinear brick ramp, concrete landing and steps leading to the primary entrance, 

as well  as  non‐historic  concrete  retaining walls will  be  removed  from  the  courtyard. The 

proposed playground design will  include both softscape and hardscape elements  including 

paved winding  accessible  exit paths  (new  grasspave porous  flexible paving with  grass  and 

concrete), a 5‐feet  tall grassy mound with  scattered boulders, climbing wall and  slides, play 

areas  on  grass,  fibar  (engineered  wood  fiber),  and  sand  surfaces,  and  new  planted  trees 

throughout  the  site.  The  Project  Sponsor  will  provide  3D  renderings  of  the  proposed 

playground design at the Historic Preservation Commission hearing, per staff’s request.  The 
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Department understands the need for recreational open space in order to accommodate the 

new  school  however  staff  has  a  concern  that  the  overall  playground  design  changes  the 

character of the site and results in a cumulative effect on the setting of the property and how 

the building is perceived from the public right of way. Staff has a specific concern with the 

large mound proposed at  the center of  the courtyard,  its visibility  from  the public  right of 

way,  and  its  impact  on  the  character  of  the  historic  property.  Staff  also  has  a  concern 

regarding how  the buildings and  the brick  site wall will be protected  from water damage 

related to the maintenance of the new playground.  

 

Recommendation: 

3. The  Department  recommends  that  a  3D  rendering  be  provided  to  show  clearly  the 

proposed  changes  to  the  courtyard  design.  The  Project  Sponsor  is  to  confirm  that  no 

proposed irrigation will damage the historic building and site elements. 

 

REQUESTED ACTION 

Specifically, the Department seeks comments on: 
 

 The compatibility of the proposed project with the Secretary of the Interior Standards;  

 The project concerns raised by staff; and, 

 The project recommendations proposed by staff. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

 Department of Parks and Recreation (DPR) Form, 2006. 

 Project Sponsor packet plans, elevations, and photographs, July 2014. 

 



State of California - The Resources Agency 
	

Primary # 
DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION 

	
HRI # 

PRIMARY RECORD 
	

Trinomial 
NRHP Status Code 3S 

Other Listings 

Review Code 	Date_______________ 

Page 1 of 2 	*Resource  name(s) or number(assigned by recorder) 	50 Fell St. 
P1. 	Other Identifier: 	New College of California School of Law 
*p2. 	Location: 0 Not for Publication EUnrestricted 	*a. County: San Francisco 

and (P2b and P2c or P2d. Attach a Location Map as necessary.) 
*b. 	USGS 7.5’ Quad: 	San Francisco North, Calif. 	 Date: 1956 (rev. 1973) 
*c 	Address: 	50 Fell St. 	 City: 	San Francisco 	Zip: 94102 

UTM: Zone: 10 
	

mE! 
	

mN (G.P.S.) 

e. 	Other Locational Data: Assessor’s Parcel Number (Map, Block, Lot): 0814-010 
*p3a . Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries.) 

50 Fell Street is located on a 120’x 109’ lot on the north side of Fell Street between Van Ness Avenue and Polk Street. Built in 
1931, 50 Fell Street is a 2 and 3-story, concrete-frame, brick educational building designed in the Spanish Colonial Revival style. 
The L-plan, building, clad in brick, is composed of two volumes: a 3-story block set parallel to Fell Street at the rear of the lot, 
and a 2-story block set perpendicular to Fell Street. The building is capped by a low-pitch, hip roof clad in red clay tile roofing. A 
landscaped courtyard with iron and brick fencing is set in the space sheltered by the two masses. The entrance to the courtyard 
is through a symmetrical scrolled arch resting on a square column base. The perpendicular, 2-story block is oriented west to face 
the landscaped courtyard, and is 4 bays wide. The recessed main entrance is centered on the first story and has an arched 
classical door surround and modern, aluminum-frame glass doors. The entrance is flanked by large, recessed, metal-frame 
windows with fixed center lights and transoms and side casement sash. The second story has divided, metal casement sash with 
transoms and metal railings in each bay. The south elevation of the block, facing Fell Street, is three bays wide. The bays on the 
first story are separated by pilasters. All have casement sash identical to that on the second story of the façade. A shallow 
balcony with iron railings runs along the second story. The 3-story block set at the rear of the lot has a service entrance in the left 
bay, accessed via a concrete ramp. The (continued) 

*p3b. Resource Attributes: (list attributes and codes) 	HP15: Educational building 

*4 Resources Present: MBuilding DStructure DObject DSite DDistrict DElement of District DOther 

P5b. Photo: (view and date) 
View from south 
9/6/2006 

*P6. Date Constructed/Age and 
Sources: ZHistoric 

1931 
SF Assessors Office 

*7 Owner and Address: 
Wm Bernard Gucker 
2485 Chestnut St #106 
San Francisco, CA 

*p8 .  Recorded by: 
Page & Turnbull, Inc. 
724 Pine Street 
San Francisco, CA 94108 

*9 Date Recorded: 
9/6/2006 

pQ� Survey Type: 

Reconnaissance 

*p 	Report Citation: (Cite survey report and other sources, or enter none) None 

 

*Attachments: 	0 None 0 Location Map 0 Sketch Map Z Continuation Sheet 0 Building, Structure, and Object Record 

o Archaeological Record 0 District Record 0 Linear Feature Record 0 Milling Station Record ORock Art Record 

0 Artifact Record 0 Photograph Record 0 Other (list) 

DPR 523A (1195) 	 *Requ i red information 



State of California & The Resources Agency 	 Primary#  

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION 	 HRI #  

CONTINUATION SHEET 	 Trinomial 

Page 	2 of 2 
	

* Resource Name or # (Assigned by recorder) 50 Fell St. 

*Recorded by: Page & Turnbull 	*Date 9/6/2006 	 E Continuation 	Update 

*P3a. Description, continued. 
entrance has double-leaf, single-light, aluminum doors beneath a suspended hood. The remaining bays of the ground floor are 
divided by piers rising to the second story and feature recessed, metal frame windows identical to those on the first story of the 
perpendicular wing. The upper floors have metal casement sash with transoms in each bay. All elevations end in a cornice of 
quarter-turned bricks. The rear, 3-story block has a short, clerestory roof with venting at the ridge of the main roof. The left, end bay 
of the 3-story block rises to a fourth story to accommodate an elevator and roof access 

lit _q4 

View looking north 

I - 
4 	r t 

::nce and stair tower 

DPR 523A (1/95) 	 *Requ ired information 



Page 1 	of 2 
*Resource Name or #: 	814/10 

P1. Other Identifier: 	New C 
*P2 Location: 0 Not for Publication M Unrestricted 	 a. County San Francisco 

b. USGS 7.5’ Quad San Francisco North 	Date 1980 T 02N; R 05W, 	114 of ND /4 of Sec 9; MDM 	B.M. 

c. Address 50 Fell Street 	 City San Francisco 	 Zip 94102 
d. UTM: (Give more than one for large and/or linear feature) 	 Zone -I 	 mEl 	 mN 
e. Other Locational Data: (e.g. parcel #, legal description, directions to resource, elevation, additional UTMs, etc. as appropriate) 

Assessor’s Parcel Number: 814/10 

*p3a . Description: (Describe resource and its major elements. Include design, materials, condition, alterations, size, setting, and boundaries.) 

The historic Viavi Building is a two- and three-story, L-plan mixed-use building on the north side of Fell 
Street west of Market. The L consists of a two-story brick wing along the east (right) side of the lot and a 
three-story reinforced concrete wing across the back. It encloses a wide, fenced garden that provides a rare 
visual amenity in this inner city area of zero setbacks. Both wings are stuccoed and have tile roofs, producing 
a late Mission Revival style. The front wing has a metal pickets balcony all along the Fell Street elevation, 
and the garden elevation has small similar balconies at each of the second floor windows. Windows are widely 
spaced and tall. They make three bays across the Fell Street elevation, and four on the garden. The rear wing 
has small windows on the third floor, and larger ones below. The garden fence consists of a low wall and tall 
metal pickets between round masonry piers with molded caps and balls on sloping tops. Walkways lead up 
either side of the garden. The complex appears intact as to location, design, setting, materials, workmanship, 
feeling, and association. 

*p3b. Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) HP6. Low Commercial Building HP15. Educational Building 
*4 	Resources Present: 0 Building 	U Structure 	U Object 	El Site 	U District 	0 Element of District 	U Other (Isolates, etc.) 

P5a. Photograph or Drawing (Photograph required for buildings, structures, and objects) 	P5b. Description of Photo: (View, date, etc.) 

View, looking northeast 

*p6. Date Constructed/Age and Sources: 

	

U Prehistoric 	M Historic U Both 

1932 
per Heritage file 

Date of Photo: 08/11/1997 	
*7 Owner and Address: 

New College of California 
% Business Off., 50 Fell St. 

Photo Number: WKAB322/1 	 San Francisco, CA 94102 
P--Private 

*p8. Recorded by:(Name, affiliation, address) 

D1 2  7 	4 	 Anne Bloomfield 
Bloomfield Architectural History 

- 	 2229 Webster Stree 
; IIV*a) 	 San Francisco, CA 94115 

*9 Date Recorded: 07/28/1997 
, 	 *P 1O. Survey Type: (Describe) 

Intensive 
Mid-Market Redevelopment Project 
C--Comprehensive Survey 

*P1 1. Report Citation: (Cite survey report/other sources or "none") Bloomfield, Anne, Historic Architectural Survey Report 
for the Mid-Market Redevelopment Project, 1997. 

*Attachments: U NONE 	0 Location Map 	U Sketch Map 	0 Continuation Sheet 	Ifi Building, Structure and Object Record 
O Archaeological Record 	0 District Record 0 Linear Feature Record 0  Milling Station Record 0 Rock Art Record 0  Artifact Record 
0 Photograph Record 	0 Other: (List) 

DPR 523A (1/95) 	 *Requ i red information 



State of California -- The Resources Agency 	 Primary #  

DEPARTMENT OF PARKS AND RECREATION 	 HRI #  

BUILDING, STRUCTURE, AND OBJECT RECORD 
Page 2 of 2 
	

*NRHP Status Code 3S 
*Resource Name or #: 814/10 

Bi. Historic Name: Viavi Building 
B2. Common Name: New College of California 
B3. Original Use: patent medecine operation 	 B4. Present Use: N--Non-Commercial 

*B5. Architectural Style: Mission Revival 
*B6. Construction History: (Construction date, alterations, and date of alterations.) 

Constructed 1932. 

*B7. Moved? MNo DYes 0 Unknown Date: 	 Original Location: 

*138 Related Features: 

None 

B9a. Architect: Willis Polk & Co. 	 b. Builder: Unknown 
*B10. Significance: Theme Development of Mid-Market area 	Area San Francisco 

Period of Significance 1870-1940 	Property Type Small commercial bldgs 	Applicable Criteria C 
(Discuss importance in terms of historical or architectural context as defined by theme, period, and geographic scope. Also address integrity.) 

The Viavi Building appears eligible for the National Register of Historic Places at the local level of 
significance, under Criterion C, architecture, because it embodies the distinctive characteristics of late period 
Mission Revival style, and it possesses high artistic values in the site planning with the only streetside garden 
in this neighborhood. The unusual site planning fit an unusual operation, the Viavi patent medicine system of 
Drs. Herbert and Hartland Law. The Viavi preparations were designed for a wide variety of female ailments. 
They were available only to those who bought the whole treatment, which was based on homeopathy. 
Specially trained workers spread the Law brothers’ teachings worldwide and sold the elixirs. The building on 
Fell was constructed as the head office, laboratory, factory, shipping center, and, especially, the classrooms 
for teaching the workers. It was the fourth of their headquarters buildings; the first, at Van Ness & Vallejo 
had been outgrown; the second, at Van Ness & Green, fell victim to the 1906 fire emergency; & the third, at 
636-652 Pine, was demolished to make way for an addition to the Metropolitan Life Insurance Building on 
Stockton. The Laws had vast experience with constructing major buildings: the Fairmont Hotel, the Rialto 
and Crossley Buildings on New Montgomery, Herbert Law’s mini-mansion at 1021 California, and estates in 
San Mateo County. These are quite consistent with their hiring the late Willis Polk’s firm and creating urban 
open space. The resource’s period and date of significance are 1932, the year of construction. The area of 
significance is architecture. The building retains integrity. 

B11 Additional Resource Attributes: (List attributes and codes) 

*1312 References: 

Bogart, Sewall, "Lauriston," Portola Valley, CA, Alpine 
House, 1976. 
San Francisco Heritage file. 

San Francisco City Directories, 

B13. Remarks: 

*B14 Evaluator: Anne Bloomfield 
Date of Evaluation: 	07/18/1997 

(This space reserved for official comments.) 

(Sketch Map with north arrow required) 

DPR 523B (1/95) 
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View looking northwest from across Fell Street at the East Wing and site wall (Knapp, 
2014).  
 

 
View looking northeast from across Fell Street at the site wall and East Wing (Knapp, 
2014).  
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1.  CONTEXT 

 
Context Image along the north side of Fell Street from Van Ness Avenue to Market Street. (Knapp, 2014) 
 
 

 
Context Image along the south side of Fell Street from Market Street to Van Ness Avenue. (Knapp, 2014) 
 
 

 

          
Site images within the courtyard of Fell Street, panning from the west tower to the east wing. (Knapp, 2014) 
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a.  Site Description  

 
The existing building at 50 Fell Street  is  located midblock on  the north side of Fell Street 
between Van Ness Avenue and Market Street, San Francisco Assessor’s block number 814, 
lot 10. The property is bounded by adjacent buildings at the east and west, faces a parking 
lot to the north and onto a sidewalk along Fell Street at the south. The subject property is 
nestled between two much larger buildings, the 29‐story 100 Van Ness building (1976) at 
the  west  and  1  Polk  Street  building  (2008)  at  the  east,  both  residential  towers.    The 
building at 100 Van Ness, which used to house AAA offices  is being converted to housing 
and its exterior is being re‐clad with a new curtain wall. The building at 1 Polk Street is a 
residential structure with various city offices on the lower floors , the building has a two‐
story section to provide space between its tower and the property at 50 Fell Street. The two 
tall curtain wall structures do not have an architectural relationship in scale or style to the 
subject property, which is a small‐scale Spanish Colonial Revival building.1 
 
Across the street from 50 Fell Street, the buildings consist of a 5‐story (1908) building at 
Van Ness Avenue, a two‐story (1917) building, a 1913 four‐story (1913) building and a 5‐
story  (1907)  building  at  Market  Street.  Although  these  buildings  relate  in  scale  to  the 
subject property, they were built before the complex at 50 Fell (1931) and do not in style. 
 
The  site  at  50  Fell  Street  is  enclosed,  on  Fell  Street,  by  an  original  brick wall with  brick 
pillars,  concrete caps, and wrought  iron  fencing.   The site wall has  two openings,  a man‐
gate  at  the  east  and  a  drive  gate  at  the  west.  The  man‐gate,  a  compatible  feature  that 
replaced the original wrought iron gate, is surmounted by a decorative concrete archway. 
The larger drive gate has a non‐historic chain‐link sliding gate where original entry pillars 
and wrought iron gate were removed,  
 
The open courtyard is bounded by the street wall at the south building, 100 Van Ness to the 
west  and  the  L‐shaped  subject  building  at  the  east  and  north.    The  pedestrian  arched 
opening at the east end of the street wall leads to the main entrance at the East Wing via a 
non‐historic  brick  path  and  concrete  stairs.  The  entry  is  also  accessed  by  a  non‐historic 
curvilinear paved brick ramp which winds through the courtyard  and around a relocated 
original fountain with circular ceramic tile basin and non‐historic concrete sculptural piece 
set within  it. The wider drive opening at  the west end of  the street wall along Fell Street 
accesses  two  non‐historic  street  ramps  to  the  north  wing.  One  of  them  is  an  accessible 
ramp, which leads from the street along the west side of the property to the double entry 

                                                        
1 Page & Turnbull, Inc. Department of Parks and Recreation 523A Form: 50 Fell Street. San Francisco, 
California, 6 September 2006 

    
Bird’s Eye View of  the north side of Fell Street between Van Ness and Market Street (Bing, 
2014).  The property at 50 Fell is indicated by a blue dot.  Buildings at the south side of Fell 
Street are visible in the foreground.  
 

 
Aerial Plan (Bing, 2014).  The property at 50 Fell is indicated by a blue dot.  Buildings at the 
south side of Fell Street are at bottom of the aerial.  
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doors at the north wing. The other is a wider concrete vehicle drive between the accessible 
ramp and the landscaped area of the courtyard, which slopes down to an arched basement 
opening at the north wing. Between the two ramps is a paved parking area. The landscaped 
areas  of  the  courtyard  are  dirt  covered  in  wood  chips  with  various  hedges,  trees, 
miscellaneous  flowers  and  shrubs,  flagstone  or  slate  pavers,  stone  or  concrete  benches.  
The  only  remaining  historic  architectural  element  of  the  courtyard  is  the  tiled  fountain 
base. 

 
b.  Building Description  

 
The building  is an L‐shape with a two‐story brick east wing, abutting the sidewalk, and a 
four‐story concrete north wing with tower at the north/rear of  the lot. The exterior brick 
and concrete walls are painted off‐white. The hipped roofs are finished in red clay tile. The 
steel  casement windows  are  detailed with wrought  iron  balconies  and window  security 
grilles and also concrete window hoods and balcony pedestal moldings. The street wall is 
composed of brick pillars with concrete capitals, a low brick wall, and wrought iron fencing. 
A chain link fence closes the vehicle drive. 
 
The L‐shape formed by the east and north wings of the building is fully read on the first and 
second floors. A basement occurs under the north wing of the building with crawl spaces at 
the northeast and under  the east wing. The  third  floor  level,  fourth  floor mezzanine, and 
upper tower occur only at the north wing. The third floor is open to a third floor mezzanine 
which wraps the north and west sides of this wing. The fourth level at the tower is a small 
room with a sink and the top room of the tower contains elevator equipment and access to 
the roof.  
 
There are three internal stairways in the building, one in the east wing and two at the north 
wing. The main stair at the southeast side of the east wing is an open stair leading from the 
first floor to the second floor. It has wrought iron railings and wood steps. The secondary 
stairs  occur  at  the  southeast  and  southwest  corners  of  the  north wing.  These  stairways 
have concrete steps and steel pipe railings. The southwest stair runs from the basement to 
fourth floor level at the tower, the southeast stair runs from the basement to the third level. 
A non‐historic concrete stair at the exterior southeast corner of the north wing leads from 
the basement up to the landscaped courtyard. 
 
The  east  wing  building  shell  is  constructed  of  brick  and  steel  I‐beam  columns  at  the 
interior. The interior has been gutted except for wood framed partition walls with limited 
remaining plasterwork at the main lobby stair and entry; wood framing and subfloors; and 
roof  framing. At  the  interior north end of  the east wing,  there are  two steps up  from the 

 
Historic view of east wing looking northeast showing the yard wall with pedestrian 
archway at the far right and drive gate and paired pillars at the far left. (Viavi Brand 
Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically posted or reproduced 
without permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 

 

 
Historic aerial view of the property at 50 Fell Street. (David Rumsey Historical Map 
Collection. Harrison Ryker. 1938, 56. San Francisco Aerial Views. Website accessed 
12/13/2013: http://www.davidrumsey.com/blog/2011/10/24/san‐francisco‐aerial‐
photographs‐1938) 
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east wing to the north wing through a doorway. The wall at this location is mostly concrete 
with a section of brick wall at the east.  
 
The  north  wing  shell  includes  concrete  floors  and  walls  at  the  basement  through  third 
floors, wood flooring at the fourth floor mezzanine, a concrete fourth floor tower element 
and wood  roof  framing.  The  interior  of  the  north wing  has  been  gutted  of most  interior 
partitions  exposing  the  concrete  perimeter walls,  concrete  columns,  and  hollow  clay  tile 
block  interior  walls  at  secondary  stairways  and  elevator.  A  renovated  toilet  room  and 
mechanical  room exist  at  the east  end of  the north wing. The mechanical  room, which  is 
four steps down from the north wing accesses a light well where both brick and concrete 
walls are visible at the adjoining wall of the north and east wings.  
 

 
c.  Building Listings and Ratings2 

 
Historical  listings  and  supporting  documents  were  noted  in  the  San  Francisco  Planning 
Department Property Information Map Report online: 
 
1.  1976 Architectural Survey: 2.  With a summary rating of 2, the sub‐category ratings 

indicate that the building has a poor relationship to its context (‐1) but contributes 
moderately to the streetscape (2), its architectural design quality was moderately rated 
(average 2) but not considered rare or unusual (0), its cornice/ parapet was noted as 
moderately important to the building and streetscape (2), and its condition was intact 
(2‐3).3  

2.  San Francisco Planning Department Status: A ‐ Known Historic Resource. Category A is 
described in Bulletin 16 as the highest ranking for the treatment of a potential historic 
resource.  

3.  San Francisco Planning Code, Article 11: Category I ‐ Significant Building, No 
Alterations. Article 11 considers the property at 50 Fell Street to be a historic resource 
of individual importance. Bulletin 16 notes that properties listed in Article 11 fall under 
the San Francisco Planning Department Historic Resource Status A2 category. 

                                                        
2 City and County of San Francisco Planning Department. Property Information Map Report for 50 Fell Street, 
Website: http://propertymap.sfplanning.org, retrieved 31July 2013. 
3 City and County of San Francisco Planning Department. 1976 Citywide Architectural Survey, Survey form for 
50 Fell Street, Block 814, Lot 10. 

Historic view of east wing looking northeast showing the yard wall with pedestrian archway 
at the far right and drive gate and paired pillars at the far left. (Viavi Brand Products Archives. 
Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically posted or reproduced without permission from 
Wayne Vico / Viavi) 

 

Historic aerial view of the property at 50 Fell Street indicated by a blue dot. (Bing, 2014) 
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4.  National Register Code: 34  
This rating means that the property appears eligible to the National Register.5 The DPR 
form for the property notes a NRHP rating of 3S,6 which further defines the property as 
one that appears eligible for National Register as an individual property through survey 
evaluation. The DPR form notes that its significance is tied to Criterion C, architecture, 
and it retains integrity. 

5.  San Francisco’s Architectural Heritage rating: B.  
6.  Unreinforced Masonry Buildings (UMB) Survey includes this property. 
 

 
d.  Classification and Significance  

 
The property at 50 Fell Street is considered a historic resource listed in a local register in 
Article 11 as a Category 1 building of individual importance and is eligible to the California 
Register  because  it  is  listed  on  a  local  register.  The  Department  of  Park  and  Recreation 
(DPR) 523A Primary Record for the property at 50 Fell Street notes that “the Viavi Building 
appears eligible to the National Register of Historic places at the local level of significance, 
under Criterion C, architecture, because  it embodies  the distinctive characteristics of  late 
period Mission Revival style, and it posses high artistic value in the site planning with the 
only street side garden in the neighborhood with period of significance of 1932, the year of 
construction.”  The  building  was  also  noted  as  retaining  integrity.7  The  building’s  plan 
configuration  within  the  site,  open  court  facing  the  street  and  its  architectural  style 
comprise  its  significance.  The  building’s  character‐defining  features  include  its  exterior 
brick,  concrete,  and clay  tile  facades, building massing, open  courtyard, brick street wall, 
steel sash windows, wrought iron fence, balconies and window grilles. 
 

                                                        
4 City and County of San Francisco Planning Department. Property Information Map Report for 50 Fell Street, 
Website: http://propertymap.sfplanning.org, retrieved 31July 2013 

5 California State Office of Historic Preservation Department of Parks & Recreation. Technical Assistance 
Bulletin #8: User’s Guide to the California Historical Resource Status Codes & Historic Resources Inventory 
Directory, November 2004, p. 4. 
6 Page & Turnbull, Inc. Department of Parks and Recreation 523A Form: 50 Fell Street. San Francisco, 
California, 6 September 2006. 
7 Page & Turnbull, Ibid. 

 
View of courtyard from upper story of North Wing with historic fountain base at center. 
(Planning Department Files, Date Unknown) 
 

 
View of courtyard from upper story of North Wing with historic fountain base relocated 
within non‐historic curvilinear brick ramp. (Knapp, 2013) 
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2.  HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

 
Image 1 – Non‐historic basement stair at corner 
between east and north wing. Historic window 
modified to doorway to basement. (Knapp, 2013) 
 
 
 

   
Image 2 – View from Fell Street to north wing tower, 
non‐historic ramps and drives in the foreground. 
(Knapp, 2013) 
 

 

Image 1A – Historic view of corner between east and north wing, 
basement window visible at lower left under bird. (Viavi Brand 
Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically 
posted or reproduced without permission from Wayne Vico / 
Viavi) 
 
 
 

Image 2A – Historic sketch of building at 50 Fell Street looking 
north. (Viavi Brand Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images 
cannot be publically posted or reproduced without permission 
from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
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a.  Property History 

 
Early  Sanborn  maps  show  that  the  property  at  50  Fell  Street  contained  three  duplex 
residential units in 1899.8 By 1913, these buildings vanished,9 presumably as a result of the 
1906 Earthquake and Fire. The 1913 to 1948 map shows the current building configuration 
with  its  north  and  east  wings  on  the  lot.10  The  building  complex  that  exists  today, 
comprised of a brick east wing and a concrete north wing, was complete in 1931 as seen in 
a historic film from that year.11  
 
The building at 50 Fell Street was constructed as the headquarters of the Viavi Company in 
193112 by the firm of Willis Polk & Company 13 well after the death of Willis Polk himself in 
1924 for the Law brothers, Herbert and Hartland. The building is historically known as the 
Viavi Building and was composed of offices, primarily in the east wing, and a manufacturing 
facility and distribution center, primarily  in  the north wing.    It  is  likely  that  the east and 
north wing were constructed at separate times.14 Construction materials seem to support 
this  statement.  The  east wing  is  constructed  of  brick  and  the  north wing  is  constructed 
primarily of concrete. Additionally, there is a two‐step level difference at the adjoining wall 
between the two wings.  
 

b.  Property Past Uses 
 

                                                        
8 Insurance Maps of San Francisco, California. New York: Sanborn‐Perris Map Co. San Francisco History Center, 
Sanborn Map Company Fire Insurance Maps, microfilm 1899, Vol. 1, Sheet 95. 
9 Insurance Maps of San Francisco, California. New York: Sanborn‐Perris Map Co. San Francisco History Center, 
Sanborn Map Company Fire Insurance Maps, microfilm 1913, Vol. 1, Sheet 111. 
10 Insurance Maps of San Francisco, California. New York: Sanborn‐Perris Map Co. San Francisco History 
Center, Sanborn Map Company Fire Insurance Maps, microfilm 1913‐1948, Vol. 1, Sheet 111. 
11 Viavi Brand Product Archives. Film, circa 1931. Viewed with permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi in 2013. 
12 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Building Card for 50 Fell Street, Block 0814, Lot 10, 
1979. Although the 2006 Department of Parks and Recreation 523A (DPR) form for 50 Fell Street (prepared by 
Page & Turnbull, Inc., 6 September 2006) notes a construction date of 1932, Assessor‐Recorder records for 50 
Fell Street indicate the year of construction to be 1931. 
13 City and County of San Francisco Planning Department. 1976 Citywide Architectural Survey, Survey form for 
50 Fell Street, Block 814, Lot 10. Although this survey indicated that “Willis Polk – added wing and remodeled 
original building,” Willis Polk died in 1924 and it is more likely the firm of Willis Polk & Company performed 
the work on the property. The 1997 DPR form (prepared by Anne Bloomfield) supports this, indicating Willis 
Polk & Co. served as architects but does not indicate a specific architect at the firm. 
14 1976 Citywide Architectural Survey, Ibid. The survey statement in this survey that “Willis Polk – added wing 
and remodeled original building” implies that the east and north wing were constructed separately. 

 
 

Image 2B – Historic view of driveway along west side of 
property looking southwest. (Viavi Brand Products Archives. 
Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically posted or 
reproduced without permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
 
 
 
 
 

Image 3 – East wing looking east with non‐historic curvilinear 
ramp in foreground. (Knapp, 2013) 
 

Image 2C – Historic view of fountain with driveway beyond 
along west side of property looking southwest. (Viavi Brand 
Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be 
publically posted or reproduced without permission from 
Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
 
 
 
 
 

Image 3A – Historic view of east wing looking southeast. 
(Viavi Brand Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images 
cannot be publically posted or reproduced without 
permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
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Past  uses  and  ownership  for  the  property  at  50  Fell  Street,  Block  814,  Lot  10  were 
researched  both  at  the  San  Francisco  Main  Public  Library  and  San  Francisco  Assessor‐
Recorder’s Office: 
• Viavi Company, factory/headquarters for homeopathic remedies (1931‐1946) 
• U.S. Government Offices, various (1946‐1972) 
• Vacant (1973‐1974) 
• City Government Offices, various (1975‐1977) 
• New College of California School of Law (1978‐1999) 
• Investment property (1999‐2011) 
• Casa Terranova LLC (2011‐present) 
 
Assessor’s Block Books show the earliest recorded ownership after 1906 listing J.S. Spear, 
Jr.,  G.L. Spear and Charlotte W. Hall with a date of 12/10/10 on Lot 10.15 The property at 
50 Fell Street has Assessor’s owner history and sales records dating back to 1919.These 
records note property transfers beginning in 1919 from Frank J. Edward, J. [W] James, D. 
Dougherty to A. Freed. In 1926, a decision in A. Freed vs. Thos. Boote resulted in a transfer 
to A. Freed the following year. That same year, in 1927, A. Freed granted the property to 
Pacific Motor Supply Co. In 1929, the [Cal.] Motor Supply Co. sold the property to the Viavi 
Co. on March 5.16 It is not known if a building existed on the site prior to this purchase but a 
building was constructed in 1931.17 Previous research indicates that the building was 
designed by Willis Polk & Company. 18 It is clear that the architect would not have been 
Willis Polk himself who died in 1924 but someone who worked at the office thereafter. The 
building was originally used by the Viavi Company, Inc. as their headquarters and factory 
for homeopathic treatments for women and included spaces for a laboratory, factory, 
shipping center, and classrooms for teaching workers who sold the remedies.19 The listing 
in the 1930 San Francisco City Directory notes that the Viavi Co. would be moving from 
1490 Market to 50 Fell by May 1st and was listed at this new address in the 1931 
directory.20 In 1946, it was sold to the United States of America21 to become a United States 

                                                        
15 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Map Book in Western Addition, Pages 245­344 Inc., 
Restored October 1993. 
16 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Sales Ledger Index, Microfiche for 1914‐1938. 
17 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Building Card for 50 Fell Street, Block 0814, Lot 10, 
1979. 
18  Page  &  Turnbull,  Inc.  Department  of  Parks  and  Recreation  523A  Form:  50  Fell  Street.  San  Francisco, 
California, 6 September 2006. 
19 Ibid. 
20 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory, 1931. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1931. 
San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
21 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Sales Ledger Index, Microfiche for 1939‐1947. 

 
Image 4 – Historic fountain base with non‐historic concrete 
fountain at center looking north. (Knapp, 2013) 
 
 
 
 

Image 5 – View looking southwest from yard at non‐historic 
walls toward driveway. (Knapp, 2013) 
 
 

 
Image 4A – Historic view of fountain looking northeast. (Viavi Brand 
Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically 
posted or reproduced without permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
 
 

 
Image 5A – Historic aerial view of the property at 50 Fell Street. 
(David Rumsey Historical Map Collection. Harrison Ryker. 1938, 56. 
San Francisco Aerial Views. Website accessed 12/13/2013: 
http://www.davidrumsey.com/blog/2011/10/24/san‐francisco‐
aerial‐photographs‐1938) 
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Navy Department District Medical Office housing medical, dental, and dispensary functions 
until 1967.22 No longer listed under the Navy government listings, there was a “no return” 
listing for this address in the 1968 directory.23 In the 1969‐1970 directory, US GSA Aid 
Logistic Support & Control was listed at 50 Fell Street.24 From 1971 to 1972, the building 
was used by the Government Office of Naval Research along side the Numismatic Service 
Division of the Mint.25 The property is listed as “vacant” in the 1973 and 1974 directories. 
From 1975 to 1977, the property held several city offices including the City Clearing House, 
Economic Analysis, Commission on the Status of Women, Architectural Design Service, and 
also the Mayor’s Office of Economic Development. 26 In 1978, The New College of California 
School of Law is listed at 50 Fell Street,27 the year of their effective ownership.28 The school 
sold the property to Baywood Investors in 1999 followed quickly by a sale to Bernard Wm 
Gucker in 2000 who held the property until 2011, when the current owner, Casa Terranova 
LLC, acquired the property.29 The building has not been used by tenants after 1999. 
 
 

                                                        
22 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory, 1967. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1945‐
46, 1967. San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
23 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory, 1968. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1968. 
San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
24 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory, 1969­1970. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 
1970. San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
25 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1971, 1972. 
San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
26 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1975, 1976, 
1977. San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
27 Polk’s Crocker­Langley San Francisco City Directory, 1978. San Francisco: R.L. Polk & Co. of California, 1978. 
San Francisco (Main) Public Library. 
28 City and County of San Francisco Assessor‐Recorder. Real Property Inquiry (Computer), Ownership 
History, 1993 to August 2013. 
29 Ibid. 

 
Image 6 – View along Fell Street looking northeast, east wing at right. The west side of the 
yard wall is missing. (Google, May 2011) 
 

 
Image 6A – Historic view of east wing looking northeast showing the yard wall with pedestrian 
archway at the far right and drive gate and paired pillars at the far left. (Viavi Brand Products 
Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot be publically posted or reproduced without 
permission from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 

NEW OWNER
Rectangle
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c.  Property Changes 
 
The limited permit history at DBI shows various modifications to the exterior and interior. 
In  1993,  the  concrete  handicapped  ramp  at  the west  property  line was  constructed  and 
subsequently corrected in 1997 after a violation was identified. In 2002, several changes at 
the courtyard were completed including the construction of the  curvilinear brick ramp at 
the  entry,  concrete  entry  stairs  and walkway  to  the pedestrian  opening at  the yard wall, 
and  construction  of  a  new  stair  to  the  basement  at  the  north  side  of  the  courtyard,  and 
relocation of the fountain. The same year, the entry doors at the east wing were relocated 
from  the  face  of  the  building  inward  and  wood  flooring  was  repaired  in  that  area.  The 
interior of the building is substantially gutted so many of the interior changes noted in the 
permit record are irrelevant. Roof work included skylight and roof tile repairs at the east 
wing  in  1987  and  roof  parapet  bracing  at  the  north  wing  in  1990.  Other  elements  of 
unknown  date  include,  at  the  north  wing,  steel  canopy  framing  above  the  entry  and 
ductwork which  extends  from  the  central  basement  opening  to  the  roof.  There  are  also 
other small miscellaneous attachments at both wings. 
 
(See  Diagram  of  Existing  Courtyard  Plan  &  Chronology  of  Change  which  references 
numbered images documenting changes)  



    Page  
    50 Fell Street ‐ Major Permit to Alter 
    Architectural Review Committee ‐ July 16, 2014  

13

 

      
Image 7 – View of decorative arched gateway 
with non‐historic gate looking northeast 
from Fell Street. (Knapp, 2013) 
 
 

 
Image 8 – View of decorative arched entry at 
east wing looking east. The lower portion of 
original pilasters has been covered where 
the non‐historic brick ramp and concrete 
steps were installed and interior steps were 
infilled with new floor to meet the ramp 
landing. (Knapp, 2013) 

 

 

 
Image 7A  – Historic view of decorative arched gateway with 
original wrought iron gate at yard wall looking southeast from the 
yard.  (Viavi Brand Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images 
cannot be publically posted or reproduced without permission 
from Wayne Vico / Viavi) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 8A  – Historic view of decorative arched entry looking east. 
(Viavi Brand Products Archives. Film, circa 1931. Images cannot 
be publically posted or reproduced without permission from 
Wayne Vico / Viavi) 

 

 
Image 9 – View of lobby entry at east wing looking southwest. 
Non‐historic storefront assembly and infill flooring at modified 
entry. (Knapp, 2013) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 10 – View looking northwest to the north wing of 
transformer (left), brick stacked on concrete pad (center), 
concrete planter (right) with original window opening above 
infilled with mechanical equipment. (Knapp, 2013) 

 

 
Image 11 – View of basement driveway opening with non‐
historic infill wall looking north at the north wing. (Knapp, 
2013) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Image 12 – View of yard looking south to Fell Street at non‐
historic brick ramp. (Knapp, 2013) 
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3.  PROPOSED PROJECT 
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a.  LePort Schools & the Proposed Use 
 
Founded in 2000, LePort Schools offer high‐quality, authentic Montessori education to over 
1,000  students  ages  12  weeks  to  8th  grade  at  nine  campuses  in  Southern  California.  In 
winter  2013,  eighteen  pioneer  San  Francisco  parents made  a  commitment  to  prepaying 
three years’ worth of tuition to initiate and support the development of LePort Schools in 
San  Francisco.  The  first  San  Francisco  campus  will  also  the  first  historical  campus  for 
LePort Schools. The historic property at 50 Fell Street  is  the  ideal place  for a Montessori 
school  because  of  its  small  scale;  quaint  architectural  character;  its  open,  light‐filled 
interiors which allow flexibility for program development; large courtyard for outdoor play 
in  a  largely  paved  city  environment;  convenient  access  to  public  transportation  allowing 
parents to use BART and Muni to take their children to and from school; direct adjacency to 
residential buildings and other new development which will serve families; and proximity 
to sponsor companies including Twitter, Square, and Dolby within the context of the Mid‐
Market Street area, which is in the process of revitalization.   
 
LePort’s entry into San Francisco is driven by an urgent need for better childcare options in 
the  city.  The  rehabilitated building will  serve  infant  to  second  grade programs  including 
Spanish‐immersion,  music,  art  and  sports  in  addition  to  the  core  Montessori  program. 
Almost half of the total enrollment capacity of 220 new childcare spots for the property at 
50 Fell Street have been  filled to date, with  the  infant and toddler programs 100% filled. 
LePort’s robust  financial aid program is an  incentive  for  families  to stay  in San Francisco 
and is also beneficial to maintaining diversity within this growing neighborhood. 
 
The new use as a Montessori School is compatible with the building in that it will require 
minimal changes to the historic building, will remove paving from the courtyard to return 
more  landscaped space,  rehabilitate  the historic building  finishes and stabilize  it  through 
seismic  retrofit  to  revitalize  it  from  its  long‐abandoned  state  so  that  it  can  continue  to 
function and be maintained in the future. 
 
 

      
Typical LePort outdoor areas consist of natural features including natural grass lawns and planted 
areas. Play areas and fall zones consist of  wood chips, sand, and engineered wood fiber. 
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b.  Scope of Work 
 
LePort Schools is embarking on several different phases of work which will be performed 
under separate permits to prepare the building for its new use as a Montessori school. The 
proposed  use  as  a  Montessori  school  will  require  a  change  of  use  from  commercial  B 
occupancy  to  educational E  occupancy  for basement  through  third  floors  for  classrooms. 
The  fourth  floor mezzanine  level will be B occupancy  support  spaces and exercise  room. 
The first level of the east wing will be devoted to infants. 
 
Work under Separate Permits 
Both wings will be seismically upgraded. Exterior rehabilitation includes repair of the brick 
site wall,  brick  and  concrete  building  façades,  steel  sash windows,  historic wrought  iron 
(A36 steel) and non‐historic tube steel window grilles, and installation of new signage. New 
door assemblies will be installed at the basement arched opening and at the basement stair 
at the exterior North Wing. The existing concrete ramp and vehicle ramp to the North Wing 
will be replaced with new ramps from the first and basement levels to the street. The new 
ramps  of  reduced  size  increase  the  landscaped  space  in  the  courtyard.  Interior 
rehabilitation includes new finishes at the gutted East Wing first floor lobby and repair and 
refinishing  of  the  original  wood  stair  with  wrought  iron  railing  (A36  steel).  Since  the 
interiors  are  substantially  gutted,  new  interior  partitions  will  be  installed  on  the  first 
through third  floors  for classrooms, support spaces, and circulation through the building. 
The basement will remain open as interior play space and the fourth floor will be used as 
support and exercise spaces. 
 
Work under Major Permit to Alter 
The Major Permit  to Alter  scope  includes  the  following  and  is  described  in  detail  on  the 
following pages. 
1.  Historic site wall reconstruction. 
2.   Historic wrought iron fence reconstruction. 
3.   Historic wrought iron balcony rehabilitation. 
4.   New west gate assembly. 
5.   Non‐historic retaining wall removal. 
6.   New exit doors. 
7.   Replacement of non‐historic ramp/stair  
8.   New landscaping at the existing courtyard. 
 
 

 

        
 

    
 

   
Images related to work under separate permits: Top row ‐ repair of exterior brick and concrete at facades, steel sash windows, 
wrought iron (A36) and galvanized steel window grilles; Middle row ‐ replacement of non‐historic signage and replacement of 
exterior North Wing ramps at west side of courtyard; Bottom row ‐ repair of historic main stair and finishes at East Wing Lobby. 
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Approach for Work under Major Permit to Alter 
1.   Historic site wall reconstruction:  

The west end of  the historic  site wall was demolished at  some point,  removing  three 
pillars that flanked the original wrought iron (A36 steel) drive gate. The approach is to 
reconstruct  the  pillars  to  restore  the  original  appearance  of  the  property  from  the 
street.  Historic  images  and  the  extant  pillars  at  site  wall  provide  evidence  for 
reconstruction. This work will complete the site wall and provide a finished opening for 
a new gate assembly. 

 
2.   Historic Wrought iron fence reconstruction:  

The original fencing at the brick site wall is made of historic A36 steel and its decorative 
qualities  resemble wrought  iron,  so  it  is  referred  to  as wrought  iron  to  distinguish  it 
from non‐historic tube‐steel, which also occurs on the property. The original fencing is 
severely deteriorated and is a safety concern. The approach is  to salvage and reuse as 
many  intact  parts  as  possible,  reconstruct  the  fence  with  new  and  existing  parts, 
galvanize the overall assembly and paint for more durability, and reinstall the fencing in 
its  original  location.  The  in‐kind  replacement  of  the  wrought  iron  fence  will  be 
coordinated with the repair of the site wall under separate permit. This work will repair 
a deteriorated condition and maintain the original appearance of the brick site wall and 
fence. 

 
3.  Historic Wrought iron balcony rehabilitation: 

Similar to the original fencing at the site wall, deterioration requires the repair and in‐
kind replacement of deteriorated wrought  iron balconies (actually historic A36 steel), 
which occur on the south and west façades of the East Wing. The approach is to salvage 
and  reuse  as  many  intact  parts  as  possible,  reconstruct  the  balconies  with  new  and 
existing  parts,  galvanize  the  overall  assembly  and  paint  for  more  durability,  and 
reinstall the assemblies in their original locations. This work will repair a deteriorated 
condition and maintain the original appearance of the balconies. 

 
4.  New west gate assembly: 

The existing opening is enclosed by a chain link fence gate with sliding mechanism. The 
approach was to enclose this opening by restoring the brick pillars and installing a new 
gate assembly. Since the original gate is missing, the new gate is designed to match the 
detailing of the non‐historic but compatible east gate made of galvanized tube steel. The 
posts are appropriately spaced  for  the safety of children. The man gates are provided 
for exiting the property. This work will restore the continuity of  the street  face of  the 
property in a compatible manner. 

 

           
 

              
Existing Areas of Major Permit to Alter Scope: Top row –(1) Historic site wall reconstruction at west end, (2) Historic wrought iron (A36 
Steel)  fence reconstruction; Bottom Row – (3) Historic wrought iron  (A36 steel) balcony rehabilitation; (4) New west gate assembly to 
replace existing chain link gate. 
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5.  Non­historic retaining wall removal:  
The partial height non‐historic retaining wall that runs north‐south through the center 
portion of the courtyard is the last remaining element of a paved area at the west side of 
the courtyard. This wall runs along the edge of a driveway to a basement opening at the 
North Wing, which will be removed under a separate permit. The approach is to remove 
this retaining wall to restore more landscaped area at the center of the courtyard and 
provide more play space for children.  

 
6.  New exit doors:  

Per code requirements, the first floor infant room at the East Wing requires an exit to 
the corridor and an exit directly to the exterior with access to ramps to roll infant cribs 
through the exits. In order to classify the infant area as Group E occupancy rather than 
the more stringent Group I‐4 , to minimize impact to the building, and provide adequate 
space for the infant program, the infant program must be on the first floor and one of its 
two separate exits must access the exterior directly. The exits must allow infants cribs 
to be rolled out of exit doors and onto a ramp to grade. 
 
The new exterior door at the north wing (and the new ramp and elevated walkway) are 
required  to  provide  two  means  of  egress.  Previously,  the  egress  path  through  the 
building travelled from the north wing southwest stair through the east wing via an exit 
passageway to  the main  front door. The creation of  the  infant rooms at  the east wing 
required that the two wings have separate exiting with the enclosure of the shared wall. 
Therefore, a new second exit is to be created at the north wing. In addition, the east and 
north  wing  first  floor  levels  are  not  at  the  same  elevation  and  a  ramped  egress  is 
required. 

 
Code compliance and application of the Historical Building Code were carefully studied 
and reviewed with the Building Department in order to minimize impact on the historic 
property. The approach is to avoid creating new openings and use existing openings to 
provide these two new exits. Existing steel windows at two  locations will be salvaged 
and  stored. A portion of  the masonry wall will  be  removed  to  install  a  new doorway 
with  sidelights.  Salvaged  brick  can  be  reused  and  concrete  can  be  recast.  The  new 
door/window assemblies will be aluminum to be compatible with existing and similar 
in detailing to blend with the historic windows.  

 
At these locations, historic windows and brick will be salvaged and reused and concrete 
can be recast for reversibility in the future. A small portion of wall will be removed for 
the  installation  of  the  new  doorway.  The  new  door/window  assembly  will  be 
compatible  with  the  existing  divided  light  windows  with  solid  panel  at  the  lower 
portion of door to align with the wall.  

      
 

   
 

      
 
Existing Areas of Major Permit to Alter Scope: Top: (5) Non‐historic retaining wall removal; Bottom: (6) New exit doors at existing first 
floor window openings near  the corner of the L‐shaped building at the North and East Wings.  The existing historic window at each 
location will be salvaged and stored. The new door with sidelights will be detailed similarly to the existing windows. 
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7.  Replacement of non­historic ramp/stair:  

The  existing  curvilinear  brick  ramp  and  concrete  stair  at  the  East  Wing  is  non‐
compliant,  does  not  provide  egress  for  the  two  new  exits,  and  extends  into  the 
courtyard. The approach  to  remove  the  existing  assembly  to provide egress  from  the 
two new exits, make the main east entrance accessible, and align it with the East Wing 
to increase landscaped space within the central courtyard. The intention is that the new 
ramp/platform be self‐supporting, separated slightly  from façade, and simply detailed 
to  allow  the  building  to  read  and  remain  untouched  for  reversibility.  The  new  ramp 
/stair  is  a  steel  structure  with  concrete  paving  and  steel  railings  and  posts. 
Intermediate  wider  newels  are  intended  to  break  up  the  pattern  in  widths  that 
resemble  window  openings  and  balconies.  A  galvanized  steel  mesh  below  the  ramp 
would screen this area from debris, rodents and access by children.  

  
8.  New landscaping at the existing courtyard:  

The  existing  courtyard  landscaping  is  non‐descript.  It  is  composed  of  dirt  covered  in 
wood chips with various hedges, trees, miscellaneous flowers and shrubs, flagstone or 
slate  pavers,  stone  or  concrete  benches.    The  only  remaining  historic  architectural 
element of the courtyard is the previously relocated tiled fountain base. In addition, the 
existing courtyard has two ramps and parking area at the west and a curvilinear brick 
ramp at the east, which dominate the landscaped space.  

 
The approach is to reduce the paving in the courtyard with the realignment of ramps at 
the west and east  to  increase  the  landscaped space, and revitalize  the courtyard with 
new natural landscaping which provides exit paths and play areas for the new use. The 
west ramps and paving will be removed under a separate permit and replaced with new 
ramps that are reduced in size. The east ramp will be removed under the Major Permit 
to Alter as described previously. Four trees will remain and three trees will be replaced 
with three trees in similar locations. The historic tiled fountain base will be retained in 
place and incorporated into the new design where it is visible when entering the site.  
 
The new  landscape design accommodates new natural  elements  to  facilitate play and 
children’s  activities  rather  than  above  ground  play  structures  to  retain  the  open 
appearance  of  the  courtyard  and  restore  its  landscaped  appearance.  As  part  of  the 
natural playground concept,  curvilinear decomposed granite and  concrete paving exit 
paths will be surrounded by natural grass lawn, planting areas with play areas and fall 
zones of wood chips, sand, and engineered wood fiber. Set back  from the street, at the 
northwest side of the courtyard, a small mound will be created and integrate a natural 
gray polycarbonate slide and a climbing feature to accommodate types of play required 
for this school facility.  

     
 

 
Existing Areas of Major Permit to Alter Scope: Top: (7) Replacement of non‐historic ramp/stair, (8)  
Retention of historic tiled fountain base (sculptural concrete within fountain base is non‐historic and will be 
removed under separate permit; Bottom ‐(8) Replacement of existing non‐descript landscaping with new 
natural playground landscaping. 
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c.  Compliance with the Secretary’s Standards – Project Sponsor Analysis 
 
The proposed project improves the street face of the property with reconstruction of the west end of the 
brick site wall,    installation of a new west gate, reconstruction of deteriorated wrought iron (A36 steel) 
fencing,  and  rehabilitation  of  deteriorated  wrought  iron  (A36  steel)  balconies.  New  openings  at  the 
facades  are  minimized  and  compatible  with  the  existing  historic  fabric.  The  exit  pattern  via  the  new 
ramp/platform  economizes  the  circulation  and  accessibility  from  both  the  North  and  East  Wing, 
increasing the landscaped space within the courtyard. In addition, the new/ramp platform’s construction 
and separation from the historic façade, makes it a reversible element, keeping the exterior substantially 
intact.   The  removal of non‐historic  ramps and paving  increases  the  area  for new natural  landscaping, 
which improves the historical appearance of the landscaped courtyard. 
 
The property at 50 Fell Street appears eligible to the National Register of Historic Places. In light of this, 
the  city  considers  the  property  a  historic  resource  for  the  purposes  of  the  California  Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA). If a rehabilitation and alteration project involving a historic resource is guided by the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (Secretary’s Standards), the presumption is that the 
project  would  not  cause  an  significant  adverse  effect  to  the  property  in  terms  of  CEQA  since  the 
Secretary’s  Standards  encourages  the  retention  of  the  building’s  character‐defining  features  that 
contribute  to  its  overall  significance  and  integrity.  The  proposed  project  complies  with  the  Secretary 
Standards as summarized: 

Standard 1. A property will be used as  it was historically  or be given a new use  that  requires minimal 
change to its distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial relationships.  

Past  uses  include  a  factory/headquarters  for  a  homeopathic  remedies  company  (1931‐46),  U.S.  Navy 
medical and federal offices (1946‐72), vacant (1973‐74), city government offices (1975‐77), a law school 
(1978‐1998), and vacant under various subsequent owners until the present. The new use is compatible 
with the building in that it retains and minimizes change to the extant historic building exterior. Removal 
of  an  existing  ramp  and  revising  the  orientation  of  the  new  elevated  walk/ramp  will  reinstate  more 
landscaped  space  in  the  courtyard, which was  previously modified  over  time with  ramps  and  paving. 
Modification  of  two  existing  windows  openings  at  brick  and  concrete  walls  to  provide  two  new 
compatible door exits will avoid creation of additional openings. maintaining the pattern and appearance 
of the existing windows. The historic yard wall where missing at the west end will be reconstructed and a 
new compatible gate installed. The proposed project will improve the overall feeling of the building and 
its spatial relationships by increasing landscaped space in the courtyard and completing the street façade. 

Standard 2. The historic character of a property will be retained and preserved. The removal of distinctive 
materials or alteration of  features,  spaces, and  spatial  relationships  that  characterize a property will be 
avoided.  

The  building’s  character will  remain  intact with minimal  changes  at  two window openings  to  provide 
exits.  The  existing window  assembly  and  brick  below  the  central  sash  light  at  these  openings will  be 
salvaged. These changes are reversible with rebuilding of a small portion of wall and reinstallation of the 
salvaged windows. The new door/assemblies will use glazing at the upper portion and a solid panel at 
the lower door panel to be compatible with the appearance of the historic window glazing and solid wall. 
The new elevated walkway will be simply detailed to defer to the historic building's character. The yard 
wall wrought iron fencing will be reconstructed to restore part of the property's character.  

The  removal  of  non‐historic  paving  and  economizing  of  ramps  at  the  courtyard  increases  the  area  for 
new natural landscaping, which is contained within the existing courtyard. The proposed plan retains the 
street yard wall, which will be improved with repair of the wrought iron fencing and replacement of an 
existing chain link fence gate with a new compatible wrought iron gate. The historic tiled fountain base, 
the  only  remaining  original  element  of  the  courtyard,  though  previously modified, will  remain  and  in 
incorporated into the new landscape design. 

Overall, the property's character will be retained and improved.  

Standard 3. Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes that 
create a  false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural  features or elements  from other 
historic properties, will not be undertaken.  

No conjectural features from other properties will be added to this property. New elements, such as new 
exit door/window assemblies  at historic openings  and  the new walkway and  ramp will  be  compatible 
and simply detailed to be distinct from the historic features such as the ornate historic wrought iron so 
that they do not create a false sense of history. 

Standard  4.  Changes  to  a  property  that  have  acquired  historic  significance  in  their  own  right will  be 
retained and preserved.  

There are no changes to the property that have acquired significance in their own right. The non‐historic 
curvilinear ramp constructed in 2002 and non‐historic basement drive retaining wall will be demolished 
under this permit . 
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Standard  5.  Distinctive  materials,  features,  finishes,  and  construction  techniques  or  examples  of 
craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.  

The  historic  fabric will  be  retained  under  the  proposed  project.   Where minimal  revisions  to  historic 
window openings for new exit door/window assemblies will occur, the existing windows and brick will 
be salvaged and stored so that it can be reinstalled in the future. The small section of concrete removal at 
the north wing opening can be recast to match the existing if restored in the future. 

Standard  6. Deteriorated  historic  features will  be  repaired  rather  than  replaced. Where  the  severity  of 
deterioration  requires  replacement of a distinctive  feature,  the new  feature will match  the old  in design, 
color,  texture,  and, where  possible, materials.  Replacement  of missing  features will  be  substantiated  by 
documentary and physical evidence.  

The  reconstruction  of  the west  section  of  the  historic  yard wall  will  be  in‐kind  based  on  the  existing 
remaining  yard  wall  which  evidences  original  construction  detailing  and  historic  photographs  and 
renderings  that  indicate  configurations.  Severely  deteriorated wrought  iron balconies  at  the  east wing 
and the yard wall  fencing  that are rusted and have  lost profiles  to  the extent  that  they are structurally 
unstable  and  not  repairable  will  be  replaced  to  match  the  existing  design  using  extant  features  as 
documentary evidence. 

Standard 7. Chemical or physical treatments,  if appropriate, will be undertaken using the gentlest means 
possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials will not be used.  

No specific chemical or physical treatments will be used under this major permit to alter. 

Standard 8. Archeological  resources will be protected and preserved  in place.  If  such  resources must be 
disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.  

If  archeological  resources  are  identified during  construction,  these  elements will  be protected  in place 
and the Planning Department notified in order to determine the appropriate procedures to deal with the 
resources. 

Standard  9.  New  additions,  exterior  alterations,  or  related  new  construction  will  not  destroy  historic 
materials,  features,  and  spatial  relationships  that  characterize  the  property.  The  new  work  shall  be 
differentiated  from  the  old  and will  be  compatible with  the  historic materials,  features,  size,  scale  and 
proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and its environment.  

At new exit  doors  at  existing window openings,  historic window  sash  and bricks will  be  salvaged and 
stored.  The  small  section  of  concrete  removed  may  be  recast  in  the  future  to  match  existing  extant 
material. The new door/window assemblies at existing openings will have upper glazed divided lights to 

be compatible with  the existing windows and a solid  lower door panel  to align with  the wall. The new 
elevated walkway  and  ramp will  be  simple  in  detailing  to  defer  to  the  historic  building's  features  and 
ornamentation. 

Standard  10. New  additions  and  adjacent  or  related  new  construction will  be  undertaken  in  a  such  a 
manner  that,  if  removed  in  the  future,  the  essential  form  and  integrity  of  the  historic  property  and  its 
environment would be unimpaired.  

The  new  door/window  assemblies  at  historic  openings  will  be  reversible  in  that  salvaged  historic 
window  sash  and  bricks  can  be  reinstalled  and  concrete  can  be  recast  to match  the  existing  adjacent 
material. The new elevated walkway and ramp will have minimal connection to the building at the new 
door openings but will otherwise be freestanding so that the facade beyond will remain intact in case of 
future removal of the ramp addition. 
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SAN FRANCISCO, CALIFORNIA
50 FELL STREET

Know what's

80

FELL STREET (PUBLIC R.O.W.)

EXISTING CONDITIONS, EROSION CONTROL, AND TREE PROTECTION PLAN

PROPOSED INLET PROTECTION
SEE DETAIL 5/C2.0

EXISTING TREE

PROVIDE TREE PROTECTION
PER DETAIL 4/C2.0.

GENERAL CONSTRUCTION NOTES

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING LANDSCAPE

PROVIDE INLET PROTECTION
PER DETAIL 5/C2.0

EX. TREE TO BE REMOVED

PROVIDE TREE PROTECTION
PER DETAIL 4/C2.0.
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SHEET INDEX

VICINITY MAP STORMWATER CONTROL PLAN PROJECT INFORMATION

PROPOSED SOURCE CONTROL MEASURES TO INCLUDE

STORMWATER SOURCE CONTROL MEASURES

BENCHMARK

TREE TO BE REMOVED

PROVIDE TREE PROTECTION
PER DETAIL 4 SHEET C2.0

TEMPORARY BENCHMARK

EX. TREE TO BE REMOVED
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ABBREVIATIONS

GRADING AND DRAINAGE NOTES
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VERTICAL CURB
3

4" 3"

HALF OF EX.
S/W THICKNESS

2" MIN. LESS THAN 3"

NOTE:
IF EXISTING SIDEWALK IS LESS THAN 3" THICK, USE 6"
DEEP x 12" WIDE P.C.C. KEY WITH DOWEL CONNECTION.
PER:

EX. S/W

EX. S/WNEW S/W

NEW S/W

CONCRETE DOWEL CONNECTIONS
2

USE 7" LONG, #4 DOWEL.
DRILL HOLES, BLOW CLEAN,
AND SET DOWELS IN EPOXY.
AT 24" ON CENTER

4" 3"

4" CONCRETE SIDEWALK
1

AREA DRAIN
6

VA
RI

ES

NDS 90° LONG TURN
ELBOW OR APPROVED
EQUAL

VA
RI

ES

FLOW

NDS UNIVERSAL OUTLET
OR APPROVED EQUAL

NDS 12" LOW
PROFILE ADAPTER
OR APPROVED EQUAL

AT LAWN AREAS USE
NDS SPEE-D GRATE, NDS #40, 6"
ROUND FLAT TOP, BLACK.SLOPE

TO DRAIN
SLOPE
TO DRAIN

NDS 12" LOW
PROFILE ADAPTER
OR APPROVED EQUAL
NDS UNIVERSAL OUTLET
OR APPROVED EQUAL

CRUSHED ROCKDRAIN WYE

DRAIN PIPE

COMPACTED SOIL

CRUSHED ROCK

DRAIN PIPE

COMPACTED SOIL

AT MULCH AREAS USE
NDS SPEE-D GRATE, NDS #90, 6"
ATRIUM GRATE, BLACK

AT LAWN AREAS USE
NDS SPEE-D GRATE, NDS #40, 6"
ROUND FLAT TOP, BLACK.

AT MULCH AREAS USE
NDS SPEE-D GRATE, NDS #90, 6"
ATRIUM GRATE, BLACK

6"1.0'

4" PCC

4" CLASS II AB

NATIVE SOIL COMPACTED TO 95%

R=1/2"

6"
 T

H
IC

KE
N

ED
ED

G
E 

(T
YP

)

5CATCH BASIN / DRAIN INLET PROTECTION

Include inlet protection measures at hillside v-ditches and misc. drainage swales.
Inlet protection shall be inspected and accumulated sediments removed. Sediment shall be disposed of properly and
in a manner that assures that the sediment does not enter the storm drain system
Damaged bags shall be replaced immediately.
Additional sandbag sediment traps shall be placed at intervals as indicated on site plan.
Refer to CASQA SE-10 Storm Drain Inlet Protection for additional guidance.

D = 18"± MINIMUM

H = 12"± MINIMUM

SECTION
Sandbags/Gravel bags

Spillway

8" min. ponding height

stacked tightly

Catch Basin

Curb inlet

Sidewalk

Curb Inlet
Catch Basin

Sandbags/Gravel bags to

Spillway

D

overlap onto curb

D

D

Back of curb

X

1.5X

8'

TREE PROTECTION DETAIL
4

FELL STREET (PUBLIC R.O.W.)
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